
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Steven Corrigan, Democratic Services Manager 
 
Tel: 07717 274704 
 

 

E-mail: steven.corrigan@southandvale.gov.uk 
Date: 30 September 2022 
 

 
 

A MEETING OF THE 
 

Community Governance and Electoral 

Issues Committee 

 
WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY 10 OCTOBER 2022  AT 6.30 PM 
 
MEETING ROOM 1, ABBEY HOUSE, ABBEY CLOSE, ABINGDON, OX14 3JE 
 
Members of the Committee: 

Lynn Lloyd (Chair) 

Ken Arlett 
David Bartholomew 
 

Maggie Filipova-Rivers 
Mocky Khan 
 

David Turner 
 

Substitutes 

Anna Badcock 
Pieter-Paul Barker 
Sue Cooper 
Stefan Gawrysiak 
 

Lorraine Hillier 
Kellie Hinton 
George Levy 
Axel Macdonald 
 

Ian Snowdon 
Celia Wilson 
 

 

You can watch this meeting via the council’s YouTube channel: 
https://www.youtube.com/c/SouthandValeCommitteeMeetings  
 
An application to speak must be made in writing or by email to 
democratic services democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk by 
5.00 pm on Friday 7 October 2022. 
 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact 
the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/c/SouthandValeCommitteeMeetings
mailto:democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk


  2 

 

 
1  Apologies for absence   

 
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.    

 
2  Minutes (Pages 6 - 11) 

 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Community Governance and Electoral 
Issues Committee minutes of the meeting held on 25 May 2022. 

 
3  Declarations of interest   

 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests and any conflicts of 
interest in respect of items on the agenda for this meeting.    

   
4  Urgent business and chair's announcements   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chair. 
 
5  Public participation   

 
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have 
registered to speak.   
 
6  Community Governance Review - final recommendations 

(Pages 12 - 14) 
 

To consider the report of the head of legal and democratic and agree final 
recommendations on a number of community governance review matters – 
attached. 

 
7  Community Governance Review - Cuddesdon and Denton 

(Pages 15 - 17) 
 

8  Community Governance Review - Henley and Bix and 
Assendon (Pages 18 - 21) 
 

9  Community Governance Review - Sonning Common (Page 22) 
 

10  Community Governance Review - Thame and Great Haseley 
(Pages 23 - 33) 
 

11  Community Governance Review - Thame (Pages 34 - 39) 
 

12  Community Governance Review - Didcot (Pages 40 - 49) 
 
 



  3 

 

13  The timing of future community governance   
 

The Local Government and Public Involvement and Health Act 2007 provides for 
principal councils to conduct a community governance review (CGR) at any time.  

 The relevant guidance, issued by the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England and the Department for Communities and Local Government, suggests that 
principal councils will want to keep their community governance arrangements 
under review. The guidance goes on to offer the following advice on what might 
trigger a CGR: 

 it can be helpful to undertake community governance reviews in 
circumstances such as where there have been changes in population, or in 
reaction to specific or new local issues 

 communities may expand with new housing developments over time. This 
can often lead to existing parish boundaries becoming anomalous as new 
houses are built across the boundaries resulting in people being in different 
parishes from their neighbours. In such circumstances, the council should 
consider undertaking a community governance review  

 councils should exercise their discretion, but it is good practice to consider 
conducting a review every 10-15 years  

There is also provision for a community governance review to be triggered by a 
petition for the whole or part of the council’s area, but this is subject to rules around 
previous CGR's carried out by the principal council. 

In 2017 this committee agreed to undertake a community governance review every 
four years after the scheduled parish council elections, with any agreed changes 
implemented in time for the next scheduled elections.  

Officers experience since 2017 has been that undertaking reviews every four years 
is a very resource intensive for the elections team and other service teams which 
support the reviews.  Furthermore, undertaking a review every four years, generally 
invites parish councils to consider and submit speculative requests often on a repeat 
basis. A number of the matters considered generate little interest from the public.   

The guidance states that principal councils should consider the benefits of 
undertaking a review of the whole of its area in one go, rather than carrying out 
small scale reviews in a piecemeal fashion of smaller areas, recognising that 
occasionally specific reviews, for example to adjust minor parish boundary 
anomalies, may be appropriate. Committing to undertake a review every four years 
is contrary to the above guidance, is unnecessary, and as can be seen from the 
most recent review, causes tension between parish councils.    

Officers firmly recommend that the council relies on the statutory guidance provided 
on the timing of a community governance review, including the provision for a 
district wide review every 10-15 years. The committee will know that it is perfectly 
acceptable and possible for specific reviews to be carried out to address anomalies.  

 RECOMMENDATION 

That the committee authorises the democratic services manager to carry out future 
reviews at timescales provided for in the government guidance in consultation with 
the chair of the committee. 

 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/28/contents
https://s3-eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/lgbce/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/10387/community-governance-review-guidance.pdf


  4 

 

 
14  Great Western Park - proposed boundary review   

 
The purpose of this item is to set out the process required for a review of the district 
council boundaries and provide further clarification that it is not a matter for a 
community governance review. 

As members will be aware from the current CGR_ G review, Didcot Town Council 
resolved, at its meeting on 7 March 2022, that: 

“The whole of Great Western Park to be within the Didcot boundaries and under 

the remit of Didcot Town Council”.   

At its meeting held on 27 June 2022 (minute 38) Didcot Town Council resolved the 
following: 

“Didcot Town Council wants to resolve the boundary issues regarding Great 
Western Park. Didcot Town Council resolved that the Leader writes to inform 
the Boundary Commission and other relevant stakeholders to review and 
finalise the boundary so that Great Western Park resides under one District 
Council”. 

The issue was also raised at South Oxfordshire District Council’s meeting on 14 July 
2022. 

As previously explained at meetings of the Community Governance and Electoral 
Issues Committee and as part of this agenda (CGR_G), parishes must fall within the 
boundaries of a single principal council area. Therefore, it is not possible to include 
the area of Great Western Park in Vale of White Horse District Council within Didcot 
parish. To achieve such an outcome, it would be necessary to alter the district 
council boundary. Such a review can only be undertaken by the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England via a Principal Area Boundary Review (PABR).    

The types of PABR are outlined in the guidance available at: https://s3-eu-west-
2.amazonaws.com/lgbce/Corporate%20Documents/Guidance/PABR%20Guidance
%20and%20Letter%20Combined%20(002)_Redacted.pdf 

As you will see from pages 12 and 13 of the guidance such a review is likely to fall 
within the medium or large-scale review “type” – more likely large-scale. The 
guidance makes clear that a request to review the boundaries of principal area must 
be submitted by all the principal councils concerned – in this case, South 
Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse district councils. The request would need to 
demonstrate the benefits of the proposed change, set out the financial implications 
and evidence of the support of the local community. Any change to the principal 
area boundaries would still require a further review of parish council arrangements 
by the relevant district council.  

RECOMMENDATION: to note the above process for the review of principal area 
boundaries.  

 
 
 
 
Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic

https://www.didcot.gov.uk/uploads/draft-minutes-full-council-27th-june-2022.pdf?v=1660133380
https://s3-eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/lgbce/Corporate%20Documents/Guidance/PABR%20Guidance%20and%20Letter%20Combined%20(002)_Redacted.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/lgbce/Corporate%20Documents/Guidance/PABR%20Guidance%20and%20Letter%20Combined%20(002)_Redacted.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/lgbce/Corporate%20Documents/Guidance/PABR%20Guidance%20and%20Letter%20Combined%20(002)_Redacted.pdf


  5 

 



 

Minutes 

 

OF A MEETING OF THE 
  

Community Governance and Electoral 

Issues Committee 

 
HELD AT 6.00 PM ON WEDNESDAY 25 MAY 2022 

FIRST FL135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, OX14 4SB 
 
 

Present in the meeting room: 
Councillors: Lynn Lloyd (Chair), Ken Arlett, David Bartholomew, Maggie Filipova-Rivers, 
Mocky Khan and David Turner 
Officers: Susan Baker (Electoral Services Team Leader), Paul Bateman (Democratic 
Services Officer), Steven Corrigan (Democratic Services Manager), Jordan Kennedy 
(Electoral Services Officer), Ben Silverthorne (Democratic and Electoral Services Trainee)  
 

Remote attendance:  
Officer: Chris McMullin (Electroal Services Officer)  
  
 

1 Apologies for absence  
 
There were no apologies of absence 
 

2 Minutes  
 
RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 28 February 2022 as a correct 
record and agree that the chair signs them as such. 
 

3 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interests 
 

4 Urgent business and chair's announcements  
 
There chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. There was no urgent business. 
 

5 Public participation  
 
Councillor Tim Suter, Chairman of Great Haseley Parish Council made a statement to the 
committee, which is set out under item 11 below, Thame and Great Haseley 
There were no questions from the committee. 
 
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



 

6 Community Governance Review  
 
The committee considered the head of legal and democratic’s report.  This invited the 
committee to agree a revised timetable for the community governance reviews and to 
agree draft recommendations for each review.   
 
The committee agreed that to allow officers sufficient time to prepare the consultation 
documents and to allow for an extended consultation period, the consultation on the draft 
proposals should run until 29 July 2022.  The aim was for the committee to agree final 
proposals at a meeting to be arranged in early September 2022.  The committee was 
content with this revised timetable.   
 
The committee then proceeded to receive an overview of the community governance 
review process to date.  The committee recalled that at its meeting on 28 February 2022, 
terms of reference had been agreed for a community governance review in response to 
matters submitted by parish councils.   
 
An initial engagement period ran from 31 March to 29 April 2022 on the proposed 
changes.  A summary of the engagement responses for each proposal was now presented 
to the committee for consideration.  The summaries contained recommendations for each 
review.  The justification for each recommendation was based on the assessment criteria 
contained within the terms of reference and informed by the engagement responses.  
However, one of the assessment criteria was to take into account “views expressed in 
relation to any changes, particularly from those people directly affected”.  This meant that 
review proposals should only be evaluated once the council had consulted on its draft 
proposals.   
 
In response to a question, the committee noted that, if any proposed changes resulted in 
parish boundaries no longer being aligned with district ward or county division boundaries, 
the council could request that the Local Government and Boundary Commission for 
England make consequential amendments to these boundaries to align with the new 
parish boundaries.  
The committee agreed to consider each review summary in turn (see minutes 8 to 13 
below).   
 
RESOLVED: to agree the revised timetable for the community governance reviews so that 
the consultation on the draft proposals will run until 29 July 2022, with the committee 
agreeing final proposals at a meeting to be arranged in early September 2022.   
 

7 Community Governance Review - Cuddesdon and Denton  
 
The committee considered a proposal to de-ward Cuddeston and Denton Parish Council. 
The committee agreed that the parish council’s proposal should be the subject of public 
consultation.   
 
RESOLVED:  to consult on a proposal to de-ward Cuddeston and Denton Parish Council. 
 

8 Community Governance Review - Henley and Bix  
 
The committee considered a proposal to amend the parish boundary between the parishes 
of Bix and Assendon and Henley - on – Thames. The proposal in the report was to transfer 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 

properties within Swiss Farm Park Homes currently in Bix and Assendon to Henley-on-
Thames parish. The justification was that this would bring about better neighbourhood 
cohesion, as well as improved representation.   
 
Councillor Ken Arlett, a Henley-on-Thames Town Councillor, did not take part in the voting 
on this review proposal.  He addressed the committee in support of Henley-on-Thames 
Town Council’s view that the boundary should be moved to include the whole of the Swiss 
Farm Touring and Camping site, contrary to the officer’s recommendation which proposes 
a transfer limited to Swiss Farm Park Homes.  He reported that Henley-on-Thames Town 
Council considered that it would be common sense if all the boundary of Swiss Farm were 
to be within the parish of Henley-on-Thames. Councillor Arlett also stated that the report 
did not mention that there were a number of properties which had not been considered, 
such as two dwellings that had been left in the Bix and Assendon parish (as seen on page 
23 of the agenda pack). He stated that it did not make sense to leave these places out of 
the proposed change, as it would still leave the area in two different parishes.  
 
In response to a question regarding whether any change to the boundary would impact the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding for the parish of Bix, officers responded that 
consideration of CIL or Section 106 monies were not relevant considerations in respect of 
a community governance review. 
 
The committee agreed to consult on the transfer of a wider area covering the whole of the 
Swiss Farm Touring and Camping site.   
 
RESOLVED: to consult on a proposal to transfer Swiss Farm Touring and Camping site 
form Bix and Assendon parish to Henley-on-Thames parish.   
 

9 Community Governance Review - Sonning Common  
 
The committee considered a proposal from Sonning Common Parish Council to increase 
the number of parish councillors from 12 to 15.   
 
A statement from Councillor Leigh Rawlins, a local ward councillor, in support of Sonning 
Common Parish Council’s request, was circulated to all committee members prior to the 
meeting.   
 
In addition to the arguments opposing the increase set out in the report schedule, officers 
reported that two of the parish council seats had been vacant since February 2022 which 
did not suggest an interest from people to stand as a parish councillor.   
 
In response to a question, officers confirmed that the population figures provided in the 
report related to electorate figures.   
 
The committee agreed to consult on a proposal not to increase the size of the parish 
council for the reasons set out in the report schedule and noted that Sonning Common 
Parish Council now had the opportunity to provide evidence in support of their request.   
 
RESOLVED: to consult on a proposal not to increase the number of parish councillors for 
Sonning Common Parish Council. 
 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



 

10 Community Governance Review - Thame and Great Haseley  
 
Councillor Tim Suter, Chairman of Great Haseley Parish Council spoke to the Committee 
regarding the proposals for Thame and Great Haseley. The full text of his statement was 
as follows; 
 
“Thank you chair I don’t’ think I’ll need three minutes, because I think that our position has 
been very well reflected in both I think the papers that are before you this evening and in 
the analysis that goes around them.   
 
I just wish to make it clear that whilst we entirely understand that as a parish council, that 
for the neighbourhood planning purposes it would be understandable and possibly 
desirable for Thame to be able to include some part of Great Haseley Parish within its own 
neighbourhood planning process, that is indeed something we discussed and agreed as a 
council and were drawing up the necessary plans to make this work.   
 
Unfortunately, time was against us, and Thame needed to start their neighbourhood 
planning renewable process before we could conclude that agreement. So, we have 
always been sympathetic to that, but we are not sympathetic to a complete redrawing of 
the boundaries of the parish for the reasons given in my submission and I won’t repeat that 
because you’ve had a chance to read it and you’ll have a chance to discuss it when you 
come to your own deliberations. But I’m grateful for the opportunity to appear before you 
this evening to emphasize that whilst we that whilst we wish to be very helpful to Thame 
for their neighbourhood planning process, we completely understand that. We have strong 
reasons for wishing to keep the integrity of our parish boundary as it currently is. Thank 
you chair that is all I want to say.” 
 
The committee considered a proposal from Thame Town Council to amend the boundary 
of Thame parish to include land currently in Great Haseley parish.  Officers recommended 
that the boundary should not be changed as there was no reasonable argument for this 
change, as both sites had been identified as not involving residents, and consequently it 
was considered that there would be no impact on the identity and interests of the local 
community, or upon effective and convenient representation.   
 
The recommendation, to consult on no change, was supported by the committee. 
. 
RESOLVED: to consult on a proposal to make no change to the parish boundary between 
Thame and Great Haseley. 
 

11 Community Governance Review - Thame  
 
The committee considered a proposal from Thame Town Council to alter the line between 
the North and South Wards of Thame (as depicted on page 47 appendix A and page 49).   
 
The Committee considered that the proposal would provide an improved electorate 
balance between the town wards.   
 
RESOLVED: to consult on revised warding arrangements for Thame Town Council. 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



 

12 Community Governance Review - Wallingford and Brightwell cum 
Sotwell  
 
The Committee noted that the proposal form Wallingford Town Council to incorporate land 
at Site A, currently within the Brightwell-cum-Sotwell parish, into Wallingford parish, had 
been withdrawn.  In addition, the engagement process had provided overwhelming 
opposition to the proposal.   
 
The committee concurred with the officer’s report to cease consideration of this matter and 
delete it from the terms of reference. 
 
RESOLVED: to cease consideration of the Wallingford Town Council proposal regarding 
Brightwell-cum-Sotwell and delete it from the terms of reference. 
 

13 Community Governance Review - Didcot  
 
Councillor Mocky Khan, a Didcot Town Councillor, did not take part in the voting on this 
review proposal but did address the committee.   
 
The committee considered a proposal to consult on revised ward sizes for Didcot Town 
Council to better reflect the number of electors in each ward, in accordance with the 
elector councillor ratio (as seen on page 90 for the agenda pack).  The recommendation 
was to consult on a proposal that each of the existing parish wards was represented by the 
following councillor numbers: 

All Saints- 5 Councillors 
Ladygrove- 6 Councillors 
Millbrook- 1 Councillor  
Northbourne- 3 Councillors 
Orchard- 1 Councillor 
Park- 5 Councillors 

  
The committee discussed the possibility of transferring the Harwell area of Great Western 
Park (within Vale of White Horse District Council) into Didcot parish, (highlighted in the 
comments on page 92, comment 4 and 13 and 15), indicating a division within the 
community at the present time.  Officers advised that was not possible for the committee 
or council to establish a parish that was bisected by a district council boundary.  The only 
way of bringing Great Western Park into one parish was to request the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England to undertake a Principal Area Boundary Review 
between South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of the White Horse District Council.  
Council would need to agree to make a request for such a review which could be by 
means of a Council motion.   
 
The committee noted that the proposal set out in the report still resulted in electoral in-
balance, with the Orchard ward councillor representing only 467 electors, well below the 
average, and the Millbrook ward councillor representing 1637 electors, above the average.  
Members discussed the options of merging some wards to better address elector to 
councillor representation.  The committee suggested that officers investigate options for 
merging wards to achieve a fairer distribution of electors to councillors.   
 

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



 

Following discussion, the committee agreed to consult on the proposal set out in the report 
schedule but hoped that further options would come forward as part of the next stage 
consultation, particularly from Didcot Town Council.   
 
RESOLVED: to consult on the proposal that each of the existing parish wards be 
represented by the following councillor numbers: 

All Saints- 5 Councillors 
Ladygrove- 6 Councillors 
Millbrook- 1 Councillor  
Northbourne- 3 Councillors 
Orchard- 1 Councillor 
Park- 5 Councillors 

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 7.00 pm 
 
 
 
Chair Date 

 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



 

 
1 

 

Community Governance and 

Electoral Issues Committee  

  
Report of head of legal and democratic 

Author: Steven Corrigan, Democratic Services Manager 

Telephone:  07717 274704 

E-mail: steven.corrigan@southandvale.gov.uk 

To:  Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee  

DATE:  10 October 2022 

 

 

Community Governance Review – final 

recommendations  

Recommendations: To 

1. agree final recommendations in relation to each item subject to a community 
governance review, which are set out in the schedules attached to this report; 
and  

2. authorise the head of legal and democratic to make a reorganisation of 
community governance order to implement the changes agreed.  

 

 

Purpose of report 

1. To invite the committee to make final decisions in respect of a number of 
community governance reviews. 

Background 

2. This report represents the final element of the community governance review that 
the council commenced earlier this year.   The committee agreed to undertake a 
number of community governance reviews at its meeting in February 2022 and 
agreed terms of reference on matters submitted by parish councils.  The 
committee agreed draft proposals for consultation at its July meeting and also 
agreed revised terms of refence to provide for a longer consultation period and 
time to analyse the responses.  The process that the committee has been through 
to arrive at this point are set out in previous reports to the committee meetings held 
on 28 February and 25 May 2022 and the minutes of this meetings, and therefore 
the detail is not repeated in this report.   

3.  The committee is now invited to agree final recommendations for implementation.   

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



 

 
2 

 

 

Final recommendations  

4. The consultation period on the committee’s draft proposals ran from 30 June until 
29 July 2022. Thame Town Council requested and was granted an extension until 
3 August to allow the matter to be considered at its scheduled meeting on 2 
August. The consultation was advertised via the media and council’s website. All 
parish councils directly impacted by a proposal were contacted directly. Notification 
of the engagement exercise with a link to the consultations was included in 
InFocus for district councillors and the South news for parish councils with a link to 
the consultation. A report summary of the engagement responses is attached for 
each review. 

5. A schedule covering each matter is attached with a recommendation and 
justification for the recommendation. 

6. Once the committee has taken final decisions, work will commence immediately to 
make the necessary order to bring the changes into effect in time for the 2023 
parish council elections. This will include making applications, if required, to the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) to make related 
alteration orders to make district wards and county divisions coterminous with such 
changes. At its meeting on 14 July 2022, Council authorised the head of legal and 
democratic, in consultation with the Chair of this committee, to submit any such 
applications. 

Financial Implications 

7. If the committee decides to make changes this will involve making legal orders, 
producing high quality maps to show any new boundaries and adjusting council tax 
records, specifically to cover the costs of transferring the council tax records of 
properties that move parish.  These costs will be met from existing budgets. 

Legal Implications 

8. The community governance review has been undertaken in accordance with the 
requirements laid down in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 
Act 2007 and the joint guidance on community governance reviews published by 
the Communities and Local Government Department and LGBCE in 2010. 

9. Once the order has been made, officers will request the LGBCE to make any 
related alterations order to make district wards and county divisions coterminous 
with any revised parish boundaries.   

Climate and Ecological Emergencies Implications 

10. There are no implications arising from this report. 

Risks and Options 

11. There is no statutory duty placed on the council to undertake community 
governance reviews, so the committee has the option at any time to cease work.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 

 
3 

 

However, given the stage now reached, there is no obvious reason why it would 
want to do this. 

12. There is a risk that someone could challenge the outcome of a particular review 
item through judicial review.  Council officers have mitigated against this by 
ensuring that at all times the council has followed the requirements laid down in the 
2007 Act and guidance.  

Conclusion 

13. The committee is invited to agree final decisions in respect of a number of 
community governance review matters having regard to the consultation 
responses and report schedules attached to this report.   

 

Background papers 

None 

 

 

 

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



 
 

CGR_A 

 

Parishes Affected 

Cuddesdon and Denton 
 

Matter to be considered 

Creating a single parish ward 
 

Impact on district and county council boundaries  
 
None 
 

Proposal agreed by the Community Governance and Electoral 
Issues Committee on 25 May 2022 for consultation 

To consult on a proposal to deward Cuddesdon and Denton Parish Council. 
 

Summary of responses to the draft proposal consultation 
 
Cuddesdon and Denton Parish Council reiterated its support for the proposal, 
which it submitted. No other responses have been received on the draft 
proposal.  
 

Recommendation 
 
To remove the current warding arrangements for Cuddesdon and Denton 
Parish Council. 
 

Justification for final recommendation 

The submission from the parish council sets out that the two communities 
form an integrated community. The two wards came into existence with the 
creation of the parish council in 1962 when Cuddesdon Parish Council and 
Denton Parish Meeting became a single parish council. The guidance on 
community governance reviews states that warding of parish councils should 
be considered if: 
 

a) the number, or distribution of the local government electors for the 
parish would make a single election of councillors impracticable or 
inconvenient; and 
b) it is desirable that any area or areas of the parish should be 
separately represented. 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



 
 

The size of the electorate and distribution of communities does not present an 
issue for the delivery of elections which are currently held in the same 
location. The warding of parishes in largely rural areas is unusual. Whilst 
warding would be appropriate in circumstances where there are communities 
with separate identities that does not appear to be the case with Cuddesdon 
and Denton.  
 
This council has applied the National Association of Local Councils (NALC) 
guidance when considering the number of parish councillors for a parish.  
NALC recommends that the minimum number of members of a parish council 
should be seven, and that this number should apply to all councils with an 
electorate up to 900.  Cuddesdon and Denton has an electorate of 
approximately 370. Maintaining the current council size of seven councillors is 
therefore reasonable and in accordance with NALC guidance. 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 7



1

McMullin, Chris

From: Cuddesdon & Denton PC <cuddesdon.dentonpc@gmail.com>
Sent: 18 July 2022 09:38
To: Community Governance Review
Subject: Community Governance Review: Cuddesdon and Denton Warding

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Categories: Chris (South)

**EXTERNAL** 

I am writing to you on behalf of Cuddesdon and Denton Parish Council, as part of the consultation process, to 
comment on the proposed amalgamation of the Cuddesdon and Denton wards into a single ward.  
 
The Parish Council made the original application for this change to take place, and they still wish it to be done. 
 
The reasons are as originally given, particularly that the parish councillors will represent all electors within the 
parish, that electors will be able to vote for their preferred candidates from the whole community, and that the 
election process will be simplified. 
 
Sincerely 
 
Mike Mount 
Clerk, Cuddesdon and Denton Parish Council 
 
 

To help protect your privacy, 
Micro so ft Office prevented  
auto matic downlo ad o f this  
picture from the Internet.

 

Virus-free. www.avast.com  

This email originates from outside of the council. 
Keep this in mind before responding, opening attachments or clicking any links, unless you recognise the sender and 

know the content is safe. 
If in any doubt, the grammar and spelling are poor, or the name doesn't match the email address then please contact 

the sender via an alternate known method.  

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7

SAV_STECOR
Highlight



 
 

CGR_ B 

 

Parishes Affected 

Henley-on-Thames and Bix and Assendon 
 

Matter to be considered 

Review of parish boundary at Swiss Farm Park Homes currently split between 
Henley-on-Thames parish and Bix and Assendon parish. 
 

Impact on district and county council boundaries  
 
Henley and Woodcote and Rotherfield district wards 
Henley and Sonning Common county divisions 
 
If the committee agrees the recommendation officers will request the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England to make related orders to 
alter both the district wards and county division boundaries to reflect the 
changes made at parish level and retain coterminous boundaries. 
  

Proposal agreed by the Community Governance and Electoral 
Issues Committee on 25 May 2022 for consultation 

To consult on a proposal to transfer Swiss Farm Touring and Camping site 
form Bix and Assendon parish to Henley-on-Thames parish. 
 

Summary of responses to the draft proposal consultation 
 
Henley-on-Thames Town Council supports the proposal.  
 
Bix and Assendon Parish Council did not respond to the consultation. 
 
Three residents directly impacted by the proposal responded to the 
consultation in support of the proposal.  
 

Recommendation 

To transfer Swiss Farm Touring and Camping site form Bix and Assendon 
parish to Henley-on-Thames parish within the Henley North Ward – as shown 
below. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 8



 
 

 
 

Justification for final recommendation 

The identities and interests of the residents, as well as effective and 
convenient representation at local government level, are best served by 
locating the whole of Swiss Farm Touring and Camping site in one parish. 
The site lies directly adjacent to Henley-on-Thames parish and effectively 
forms part of it. It therefore seems logical to transfer those properties currently 
in Bix and Assendon parish into Henley-on-Thames parish. No objections 
were received with three in support of the proposal.  

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



Responses received in relation to the second round of consultation for 

CGR_B_Henley and Bix 

 

Email response received 7 July 2022 

  

 

 

Email response received 18 July 2022 

 

Page 20

Agenda Item 8



Email response received 20 July 2022 

 

 

Letter received 29 July 2022 

  

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



 
 

CGR_C 

 

Parishes Affected 

Sonning Common 
 

Matter to be considered 

To increase the number of councilors from 12 to 15 
 

Proposal agreed by the Community Governance and Electoral 
Issues Committee on 25 May 2022 for consultation 

To make no change to the number of parish councillors 
 

Summary of responses to the draft proposal consultation 
 
No responses have been received on the draft proposal agreed by the 
committee at its meeting on 25 May 2022. 
 

Recommendation 

To make no change to the number of parish councillors for Sonning Common. 
 

Justification for the final recommendation 

 
The National Association of Local Council (NALC) guidance is that a council 
size of 12 is appropriate for a parish council with an electorate of 4400.  
Sonning Common’s electorate is only 3211 well short of the NALC figure to 
justify any increase.   
 
The council has consistently applied the NALC guidance in determining 
whether or not to recommend support for a request to increase or decrease 
councillor numbers.  

Page 22

Agenda Item 9



 
 

CGR_D 

 

Parishes Affected 

Thame and Great Haseley 
 

Matter to be considered 

Amending the parish boundary to include land currently in Great Haseley 
parish within Thame parish. 

 
Impact on district and county council boundaries  
 
Any change to the parish boundary would impact on both the Thame and 
Haseley Brook District Wards and both Thame and Chinnor and Chalgrove 
and Watlington County Divisions. 
 

Proposal agreed by the Community Governance and Electoral 
Issues Committee on 25 May 2022 for consultation 

To consult on a proposal to make no change to the parish boundary between 
Thame parish and Great Haseley parish.  
 

Summary of responses to the draft proposal consultation 

Details of the responses received are set out in the engagement summary 
document. 
 
Thame Town Council proposed the change and has restated its support and 
reasons for seeking a change to the parish boundary.  
 
Great Haseley Parish Council has confirmed its objection to any change to the 
parish boundary.  
 

Recommendation 

To make no change to the parish boundary between Thame parish and Great 
Haseley parish.  
 

Justification for final recommendation 

The requested change does not address the criteria set out in the terms of 
reference for this review. Whilst Thame’s Cattle Market has planning 
permission to relocate to a site in Great Haseley parish and there is planning 
permission for an employment site, also within Great Haseley parish, adjacent 
to the proposed cattle market site, these are not considered reasons to 
change the boundary at this time.  It is the case that these sites lie closer to 

Page 23

Agenda Item 10



 
 

Thame than the village of Great Haseley. However, within rural areas it is 
normal for a parish area to comprise a number of hamlets, business and other 
facilities over a large area of land. Thame Town Council’s proposed boundary 
change extends well beyond the area impacted by these planning 
permissions, neither of which have been implemented. Neither of the sites 
impact on the identity and interests of the local community or the effective and 
convenient representation of local residents in Thame to a greater extent than 
those in Great Haseley.  
 

Page 24

Agenda Item 10



Thame Community Governance Review: we'd like 
your feedback 

 

1. Are you responding as:  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 
a resident within the 
parish 

  
 

50.00% 6 

2 
someone who works 
within the parish 

 0.00% 0 

3 
a business / organisation 
operating within the 
parish 

  
 

8.33% 1 

4 
a visitor or interested 
party 

 0.00% 0 

5 
a councillor (parish, 
district, county) 

  
 

16.67% 2 

6 
an officer (parish, district, 
county) 

  
 

25.00% 3 

7 Other (please specify):  0.00% 0 

 
answered 12 

skipped 0 

Other (please specify): (0) 

No answers found. 

 

2. If you are responding as a business / organisation, council or body please provide 
its name:  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 5 

1 Thame Town Council. SODC 

2 Great Haseley Parish Council, Oxfordshire 

3 Thame Town Council 

4 Thame Town Council 

5 Great Haseley Parish Council 
 

 
answered 5 

skipped 7 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 10



3. To help us analyse responses, please provide your full postcode (e.g. RG9 1XX)  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 11 

 
answered 11 

skipped 1 

 
 

4. Which proposal would you like to comment on: Tick all that apply.  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 

Make no change to the 
boundary between 
Thame Parish and Great 
Haseley Parish 

  
 

58.33% 7 

2 

Amend the ward 
boundary between 
Thame North and Thame 
South wards so that there 
is a more equal 
representation 

  
 

66.67% 8 

 
answered 12 

skipped 0 

 
  
  

Page 26

Agenda Item 10



 

5. How far do you support or oppose the proposal to make no change to the boundary 
between Thame Parish and Great Haseley Parish?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Strongly support   
 

33.33% 2 

2 Tend to support  0.00% 0 

3 Neither support or oppose  0.00% 0 

4 Tend to oppose  0.00% 0 

5 Strongly oppose   
 

66.67% 4 

6 Not sure  0.00% 0 

7 I don't have a view  0.00% 0 

 
answered 6 

skipped 6 

 

6. If you have any comments to support or oppose the proposal, please provide them 
below:  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 5 

1 The boundaryu was set in 1972 to the outskirts of Thame, without reference to the historic boundary. 
Development is now taking place within the area which Thame has no control over, but has great 
effect on the Town. This would restore the historic boundary and bring any proposed develoment in 
the envelope for Thame. This area is so far remote from Great Haseley, and across the M40, that 
they have little concern for it apart from any monetary interests. 

2 The business park at the edge of Thame now extends beyond the town boundary and further along 
Rycote Lane. In addition, the Thame Farmers Mart has planning permission to move to the area just 
next to the business park. This historic cattle market has been located in Thame since it was founded 
and has been running continuously for hundreds of years. It's important to the people of Thame and to 
the Town Council to retain this connection. The cattle market has no connection with Great Haseley, 
nor have Great Haseley Parish Council indicated any interest in taking over the relationship with 
Thame Cattle Market from the town of Thame, at least to my knowledge. Moving the boundary to the 
first sharp bend in Rycote Lane brings the whole of the expanded business park together into one 
parish and also allows the cattle market to stay within the Thame parish boundary. There is no 
detrimental impact to the parish of Great Haseley. 

3 Housing Development of Thame towards the cross-hatched area, this has changed considerably in 
last 5 years and must be considered. 
Industrial/commerical development in the cross-hatched area is not rural so not suited to rural ward 
Proximity to Thame closer than Gt Haseley therefore needs influence of a town council. 
Close Proximity of cross-hatched area to Moreton which is in Thame parish. 

4 Thame Town Council maintains its original arguments in support of changing the parish boundary. In 
addition to this, Thame Town Council understands that Thame Cattle Market’s charter limits it to being 
held within the boundary of Thame, but the site it has permission for is currently within the parish of 
Great Haseley. 

5 Response below received via email.  
 
Great Haseley Parish Council wholeheartedly supports the revised draft proposals, agreed by the 
Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee at its meeting held on 25 May 2022 to make 
no change to the requested boundary change between Great Haseley and Thame parishes. 
 
For completeness, please find below Great Haseley Parish Council’s (GHPC) response submitted 

Page 27

Agenda Item 10



6. If you have any comments to support or oppose the proposal, please provide them 
below:  

previously. In Thame Town Council’s justification for the proposed boundary changes it states: 
 
• Thame’s Cattle Market, once relocated, would be within the Thame parish, rather than Great 
Haseley which would be the case with the current parish boundary. 
 
• GHPC counter that despite planning permission being granted no movement has been made to 
develop the site. Development may not take place at all thus there is no justification to move the 
boundary at the present time. Successful companies and organisations often outgrow their place of 
origin and move sites, keeping their corporate identity operating within different parishes, counties or 
countries without detrimental effect to their business or the local area. 
 
• Potential for Thame to have more influence over future development in this area if its 
Neighbourhood Plan area was also extended to include it. 
 
• GPHC counter that a draft agreement is in place (see second set of bullet points, page 2). 
 
• Within the proposed new parish boundary is a live Reserved Matters planning application for 
employment land that currently falls under the parish of Great Haseley. This would be dependent on / 
serve predominantly Thame’s facilities and people but Thame currently would not receive any support 
to manage the impact on its infrastructure. By moving the parish boundary, Thame would be eligible 
to receive developer contributions to offset the impact of the development on Thame’s infrastructure. 
 
• GHPC counter that the Reserved Matters application has now been approved and that the eligibility 
to receive developer contributions will be considered and shared to offset the impact the development 
will have on both parishes. 
 
The Parish Council reiterates that despite its largely rural character, Great Haseley Parish is in fact an 
interestingly varied area: 
 
• 252 houses in 4 village “centres” (Great Haseley, Little Haseley, Milton Common, North Weston) 
 
• 3 significant light industrial estates (Thame Road, Farol, Ariens) with other developments, principally 
changes of use from agricultural to light industrial or services 
 
• Development of planned and completed renewable energy farms 
 
• Predominantly agricultural land. 
 
This balance gives GHPC a range of different perspectives, and the need to respect the interests of a 
wide range of citizens, residents and commercial interests. 
 
We note that Thame Town Council proposes a change to its southern / our northern border to 
incorporate the new industrial estate north of Thame Road, and including the settlement of North 
Weston. We understand that the principal benefit to Thame Town Council would be to secure 
provision of ‘employment land’ in their neighbourhood plan above and beyond that allocated in the 
District Local Plan on the basis of evidence of need. This can be done through negotiation of 
Neighbourhood Plan boundaries as has already been agreed rather than hard parish boundary 
change, and this is indeed the position that GHPC agreed in principle to approve: 
 
• Negotiations were concluded between the two parties to agree that Thame should include the whole 
of the industrial estate for the purposes of its Neighbourhood Plan 
 
• And that in return, GHPC would agree a split of any s.106 and CIL money that might accrue. 
 
The reason that this was not finalised is that Thame Town Council informed GHPC that they needed 
to push on with their Neighbourhood Plan process and could not wait for GHPC to secure its own 
legal advice. 
 
Nevertheless, GHPC remains open to conclude the deal with regard to the Neighbourhood Plan 
boundaries should Thame Town Council wish to re-engage. 
 
However, the GHPC position in the consultation response from Thame is misrepresented and 
overstated. GHPC did not agree to a change in the Parish boundary, as the Thame response 
suggests – and we are happy to share the relevant paperwork relating to the draft agreement set out 
to above. 

Page 28

Agenda Item 10



6. If you have any comments to support or oppose the proposal, please provide them 
below:  

 
Furthermore, GHPC would not, and does not, agree to redrawing the parish boundary for the 
following reasons: 
 
Planning 
• Retaining a strong influence and planning responsibility for the industrial estates that form the 
boundary of the parish is, and remains, an important safeguard against over-development: our ability 
to protect and preserve that boundary if we lose that part of the parish is significantly weakened: we 
become simply a party to be consulted by Thame rather than a statutory consultee ourselves. 
 
• In particular, if Thame secure a change of boundary it could weaken our ability to resist ribbon 
development along the A418 and A329 within the area Thame wish to secure into their parish to 
increase their evidenced employment need. Great Haseley would argue that there are other 
development areas within the existing Thame parish that can be identified for commercial 
development but GHCP would not be a statutory consultee. 
 
• We have a very direct interest in such development, not least because of the significant increase in 
HGV traffic to service these estates – which, coming direct from the M40 to the industrial estates 
outside Thame has no impact on the centre of Thame itself, but will have a real impact on the A329, 
which is the only viable route into and out of the village, and is already being used as a “rat run” by 
heavy traffic to avoid Oxford. 
 
• SODC will already be aware of the problems of heavy traffic on this road: we share with our 
neighbours in Little Milton the desire for Oxfordshire County Council to act to reduce HGV traffic on 
this road, by imposing weight restrictions and enforcing 20mph speed limits: further industrial strip 
development will only increase it, but a change in parish boundaries will reduce GHPC’s role in 
commenting on any such proposals. 
 
Resources 
• The dwellings and residents of North Weston represent roughly 10% of our funding base. The loss 
of these properties, as well as the commercial development that is already underway, as agricultural 
building are converted to business use, significantly impacts on GHPC revenues and represents at 
least a 10% reduction in our direct funding. 
 
For these reasons, GHPC strongly argues that the redrawing of this boundary is unnecessary and 
inappropriate and should be resisted. 

 

 
answered 5 

skipped 7 

 

7. You can upload any supporting documents using the button below.  

File Type 
Average 

Size 
Files 

Uploaded 

.pdf 121392Kb 1 

To view the files uploaded, go into the individual results. 
answered 1 

skipped 11 

  
Please see Appendix for the supporting document uploaded. 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 10



12. Do you have any other comments that you would like to make on the Thame 
Community Governance Review 2022?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 1 

1 regarding the settlement of North Weston, this could also be moved into the parish of Thame, as it has 
strong connections, both historic and geographic, with Thame and none with Great Haseley. For 
example there is no direct route by any road from Great Haseley to North Weston, only from Thame. 

 

 
answered 1 

skipped 11 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 30

Agenda Item 10



Great Haseley Parish Council 
 

 
c/o 30 Rectory Meadow 

Chinnor 
Oxfordshire 

OX39 4PJ 
Email:  clerk@thehaseleys.co.uk  

 
21 July 2022 

 
 

Mr Steven Corrigan 
Democratic Services Manager 
Legal and Democratic   
South Oxfordshire District Council 
 
 
Dear Steven 
 
Community Governance Review 2022 
 
Great Haseley Parish Council wholeheartedly supports the revised draft proposals, agreed 
by the Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee at its meeting held on 25 
May 2022 to make no change to the requested boundary change between Great Haseley 
and Thame parishes. 

 
For completeness, please find below Great Haseley Parish Council’s (GHPC) response 
submitted previously. 
 
In Thame Town Council’s justification for the proposed boundary changes it states: 
 

• Thame’s Cattle Market, once relocated, would be within the Thame parish, rather 
than Great Haseley which would be the case with the current parish boundary. 
 

• GHPC counter that despite planning permission being granted no movement has 
been made to develop the site.  Development may not take place at all thus there is 
no justification to move the boundary at the present time.  Successful companies and 
organisations often outgrow their place of origin and move sites, keeping their 
corporate identity operating within different parishes, counties or countries without 
detrimental effect to their business or the local area. 

 

• Potential for Thame to have more influence over future development in this area if 
its Neighbourhood Plan area was also extended to include it.  

 

• GPHC counter that a draft agreement is in place (see second set of bullet points, 
page 2). 

 

• Within the proposed new parish boundary is a live Reserved Matters planning 
application for employment land that currently falls under the parish of Great 
Haseley. This would be dependent on / serve predominantly Thame’s facilities and 
people but Thame currently would not receive any support to manage the impact on 
its infrastructure. By moving the parish boundary, Thame would be eligible to receive 
developer contributions to offset the impact of the development on Thame’s 
infrastructure. 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 10

mailto:clerk@thehaseleys.co.uk


• GHPC counter that the Reserved Matters application has now been approved and 
that the eligibility to receive developer contributions will be considered and shared to 
offset the impact the development will have on both parishes. 

 
The Parish Council reiterates that despite its largely rural character, Great Haseley Parish 
is in fact an interestingly varied area: 
 

• 252 houses in 4 village “centres” (Great Haseley, Little Haseley, Milton Common, 
North Weston) 

• 3 significant light industrial estates (Thame Road, Farol, Ariens) with other 
developments, principally changes of use from agricultural to light industrial or 
services 

• Development of planned and completed renewable energy farms 

• Predominantly agricultural land. 
  
This balance gives GHPC a range of different perspectives, and the need to respect the 
interests of a wide range of citizens, residents and commercial interests. 
 
We note that Thame Town Council proposes a change to its southern / our northern border 
to incorporate the new industrial estate north of Thame Road, and including the settlement 
of North Weston. We understand that the principal benefit to Thame Town Council would 
be to secure provision of ‘employment land’ in their neighbourhood plan above and beyond 
that allocated in the District Local Plan on the basis of evidence of need.  This can be done 
through negotiation of Neighbourhood Plan boundaries as has already been agreed rather 
than hard parish boundary change, and this is indeed the position that GHPC agreed in 
principle to approve: 
 

• Negotiations were concluded between the two parties to agree that Thame should 
include the whole of the industrial estate for the purposes of its Neighbourhood 
Plan 

• And that in return, GHPC would agree a split of any s.106 and CIL money that 
might accrue. 

 
The reason that this was not finalised is that Thame Town Council informed GHPC that 
they needed to push on with their Neighbourhood Plan process and could not wait for 
GHPC to secure its own legal advice. 
 
Nevertheless, GHPC remains open to conclude the deal with regard to the Neighbourhood 
Plan boundaries should Thame Town Council wish to re-engage. 
 
However, the GHPC position in the consultation response from Thame is misrepresented 
and overstated. GHPC did not agree to a change in the Parish boundary, as the Thame 
response suggests – and we are happy to share the relevant paperwork relating to the 
draft agreement set out to above.  
 
Furthermore, GHPC would not, and does not, agree to redrawing the parish boundary for 
the following reasons: 
 
Planning 
 

• Retaining a strong influence and planning responsibility for the industrial estates 
that form the boundary of the parish is, and remains, an important safeguard 
against over-development: our ability to protect and preserve that boundary if we 
lose that part of the parish is significantly weakened: we become simply a party to 
be consulted by Thame rather than a statutory consultee ourselves. 

• In particular, if Thame secure a change of boundary it could weaken our ability to 
resist ribbon development along the A418 and A329 within the area Thame wish to 
secure into their parish to increase their evidenced employment need.  Great 

Page 32

Agenda Item 10



Haseley would argue that there are other development areas within the existing 
Thame parish that can be identified for commercial development but GHCP would 
not be a statutory consultee. 

• We have a very direct interest in such development, not least because of the 
significant increase in HGV traffic to service these estates – which, coming direct 
from the M40 to the industrial estates outside Thame has no impact on the centre 
of Thame itself, but will have a real impact on the A329, which is the only viable 
route into and out of the village, and is already being used as a “rat run” by heavy 
traffic to avoid Oxford. 

• SODC will already be aware of the problems of heavy traffic on this road: we share 
with our neighbours in Little Milton the desire for Oxfordshire County Council to act 
to reduce HGV traffic on this road, by imposing weight restrictions and enforcing 
20mph speed limits: further industrial strip development will only increase it, but a 
change in parish boundaries will reduce GHPC’s role in commenting on any such 
proposals. 

 
Resources  
 

• The dwellings and residents of North Weston represent roughly 10% of our funding 
base. The loss of these properties, as well as the commercial development that is 
already underway, as agricultural building are converted to business use, 
significantly impacts on GHPC revenues and represents at least a 10% reduction in 
our direct funding. 

 
For these reasons, GHPC strongly argues that the redrawing of this boundary is 
unnecessary and inappropriate and should be resisted. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
Cllr David Lindsay 
Chairman 
Great Haseley Parish Council 

Page 33

Agenda Item 10



 
 

CGR_E 

Parishes Affected 

Thame  
 

Matter to be considered 

A review of the warding arrangements to provide electoral representational 
balance between the North and South wards. 

 
Proposal agreed by the Community Governance and Electoral 
Issues Committee on 25 May 2022 for consultation 

To consult on revised warding arrangements for Thame Town Council. 
 

Summary of responses to the draft proposal consultation 

 
Thame Town Council fully supports the proposed amendment. Of the other 
seven responses the majority support the proposal.   
  

Recommendation 

To amend the town council ward boundaries as set out in the attached map.  
 

Justification for final recommendation 

Thame Town Council requested a change to the parish ward boundaries to 
address an imbalance in the electorate resulting from higher levels of 
residential development in the South Ward. 
 
It is an important democratic principle that each person’s vote should be of 
equal weight so far as possible. Whilst there is no legislative provision that 
each parish councillor should represent the same number of electors, the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England states that it is not in 
the interests of effective and convenient local government to have significant 
differences in levels of representation.  
 
The proposal will reduce the electoral imbalance from approximately 1604 to 
approximately 520. In addition, the proposed ward split provides a more 
logical division of the parish. 
 
It is considered that the retention of warding arrangements, albeit revised, 
provides for effective and convenient representation.  

Page 34

Agenda Item 11



Thame Community Governance Review: we'd like 
your feedback 

 

1. Are you responding as:  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 
a resident within the 
parish 

  
 

50.00% 6 

2 
someone who works 
within the parish 

 0.00% 0 

3 
a business / organisation 
operating within the 
parish 

  
 

8.33% 1 

4 
a visitor or interested 
party 

 0.00% 0 

5 
a councillor (parish, 
district, county) 

  
 

16.67% 2 

6 
an officer (parish, district, 
county) 

  
 

25.00% 3 

7 Other (please specify):  0.00% 0 

 
answered 12 

skipped 0 

Other (please specify): (0) 

No answers found. 

 

2. If you are responding as a business / organisation, council or body please provide 
its name:  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 5 

1 Thame Town Council. SODC 

2 Great Haseley Parish Council, Oxfordshire 

3 Thame Town Council 

4 Thame Town Council 

5 Great Haseley Parish Council 
 

 
answered 5 

skipped 7 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 11



3. To help us analyse responses, please provide your full postcode (e.g. RG9 1XX)  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 11 

 
answered 11 

skipped 1 

  

 

4. Which proposal would you like to comment on: Tick all that apply.  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 

Make no change to the 
boundary between 
Thame Parish and Great 
Haseley Parish 

  
 

58.33% 7 

2 

Amend the ward 
boundary between 
Thame North and Thame 
South wards so that there 
is a more equal 
representation 

  
 

66.67% 8 

 
answered 12 

skipped 0 

 

8. How far do you support or oppose the proposal to amend the ward boundary 
between Thame North and Thame South wards so that there is a more equal 
representation?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Strongly support   
 

37.50% 3 

2 Tend to support   
 

25.00% 2 

3 Neither support or oppose   
 

12.50% 1 

4 Tend to oppose  0.00% 0 

5 Strongly oppose   
 

12.50% 1 

6 Not sure  0.00% 0 

7 I don't have a view   
 

12.50% 1 

 
answered 8 

skipped 4 

 

Page 36

Agenda Item 11



9. If you have any comments to support or oppose the proposal, please provide them 
below:  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 7 

1 This would give parity to the North and South wards whivh have equal 
representation 

2 Council tax gone up, normal working class people up against it, and you want to 
waste revenue on this utter waste of time which has probably already been 
decided. Show some respect please 

3 What the survey letter does not address is how many people it will involve, it shows 
the map but not the numbers. This smacks of opening up the land for development 
rather than levelling up the numbers. What I want to see is how many numbers we 
are currently going to see if this is changed and the proposed numbers that will 
change. 

4 That is truly one terrible map/diagram.  
The objective should be to explain and elucidate for those who are unfamiliar and 
in this it has singularly failed. While it may have succeeded in setting out the map 
designer's understanding it has (almost) failed to explain it for the intended target 
audience. 
 
Poor choice of colours with poor contrast.  
Inadequate legends. 
Lack of review by a representative random sample audience. 

5 I would have preferred to have seen a comparison of numbers of residents and 
employed persons iin the wards and revision of wards for comparison  

6 equal representation is vital 

7 Thame Town Council fully supports the proposal to amend the ward boundary 
between Thame North and Thame South so that current electoral ward imbalance 
is addressed and there is a more logical division of the parish. 

 

 
answered 7 

skipped 5 

 

10. If you have any alternative suggestions in relation to this proposal, please provide 
them below.  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 0.00% 0 

No answers found. 

 
answered 0 

skipped 12 

 

11. You can upload any supporting documents using the button below.  

File Type 
Average 

Size 
Files 

Uploaded 

To view the files uploaded, go into the individual results. answered 0 

Page 37

Agenda Item 11



11. You can upload any supporting documents using the button below.  

File Type 
Average 

Size 
Files 

Uploaded 

skipped 12 

 
 

Page 38

Agenda Item 11



|  1:7,000 at A3 | Produced by the Corporate GIS Team |  May 2022  |  Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2022 100018668  |

South Oxfordshire
District Council

Proposed Amendment to
Thame Parish Wards

Legend
Thame Parish Boundary
Current Parish Ward Boundary
Proposed Parish Ward Boundary
Area Affected








THAME
NORTH

THAME
SOUTH

THAME PARISH

THAME
NORTH

THAME
SOUTH

Enlarged Area

1:60,000

I

0 500100 200 300 400
Metres

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 11



 
 

CGR_G 

 

Parishes Affected 

Didcot 
 

Matter to be considered 

A review of the number of councillors elected for each town council ward to 
reflect the number of electors they represent. 

 
Impact on district and county council boundaries  
 
Didcot West and Didcot East & Hagbourne County Divisions. 
 
There would be no impact on the district wards arising from the 
recommendation. 
 

Proposal agreed by the Community Governance and Electoral 
Issues Committee on 25 May 2022 for consultation 

To consult on a proposal that each of the existing parish wards is represented 
by the following number of councillors:  
 

All Saints – 5 councillors 

Ladygrove – 6 councillors 

Millbrook – 1 councillor 

Northbourne – 3 councillors 

Orchard – 1 councillor 

Park – 5 councillors 

 

Summary of responses to the draft consultation 

As can be seen from the engagement summary report, the consultation 
responses are equally split between those who support the draft proposal and 
those who oppose them – although the number who strongly oppose the draft 
proposal is higher than those who strongly support them. Feedback from the 
consultation included several comments suggesting that the parish should be 
divided into several more parish wards, a reduction in ward size, the merging 
of some of the existing wards and that account should be taken of future  
housing/population growth in certain areas of the town. 
It is important to note that the current Community Governance Review was 
intended to pick up issues raised by parish councils for review and not 
intended as an extensive district wide review. Guidance suggests that such 

Page 40

Agenda Item 12



 
 

district-wide reviews should be undertaken every 10-15 years and South 
Oxfordshire undertook such a review in 2013/14. In responding to the request 
from Didcot Town Council, officers have sought to address the councillor to 
elector ratio within the existing ward structure and council size (number of 
councillors).  
 
Didcot Town Council responded that its comments and requests “had been 
largely ignored” by the committee. The resolution of the town council meeting 
held on 7 March 2022 is set out below: 

1. SODC to conduct the full boundary review based on population growth.  

2. The whole of Great Western Park to be within the Didcot boundaries and 

under the remit of Didcot Town Council.   

3. Aspiration to have an equal number of Councillors to represent an equal 

number of residents on each ward.  

 
Resolutions 1 and 2 are both outside the remit of a community governance 
review. 
 
In respect of resolution 1, this is interpreted as relating to district wards and 
would require an electoral review to be undertaken by the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England. 
 
In respect of resolution 2, as advised at the previous meeting of this 
committee, parishes must fall within the boundaries of a single principal 
council area. Therefore, any move to include the whole of Great Western Park 
within Didcot parish would necessitate a Principal Area Boundary Review to 
alter the district boundary between South Oxfordshire and Vale of White 
Horse District Council. Such a review would be undertaken by the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England.   
 

In respect of resolution 3, this committee agreed draft proposals for 
consultation at its meeting on 25 May 2022 recognising that other proposals 
could be put forward. In doing so there was an expectation that the town 
council would put forward proposals. As can be seen from the consultation 
responses, Didcot Town Council has not put forward any suggestions.  
 

Recommendation 

To combine the parish wards of Northbourne and Orchard and for each parish 
ward to be represented by the following number of councillors:  
 

All Saints – 5 councillors 

Ladygrove – 6 councillors 

Millbrook – 1 councillor 

Northbourne and Orchard – 4 councillors 

Park – 5 councillors 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 12



 
 

Justification for recommendation 

 
It is an important democratic principle that each person’s vote should be of 
equal weight so far as possible. Whilst there is no legislative provision that 
each parish councillor should represent the same number of electors, the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England states that it is not in 
the interests of effective and convenient local government to have significant 
differences in levels of representation.  
 
At the last meeting of the committee a number of members suggested that 
combing wards could achieve improved equality of weight. Combining 
Northbourne and Orchard wards addresses the anomaly of a councillor 
representing less than 500 electors.  
 
Based on the current electorate for the parish (at 1.5.22) each of the 21 
councillors would represent approximately 1103 electors across the whole 
parish. Based on this ratio the number of councillors for each ward would then 
be allocated as follows: 

 
 

Parish Ward Proposed 
number of 
councillors 

Electorate 
at 1.5.22 

Proposed electors per 
councillor (existing ratio 
shown in brackets) 

All Saints 5 councillors 5896 1179 (1179) 

Ladygrove 6 councillors 6102 1017 (872) 

Millbrook   1 councillor 1637 1637 (1637) 

Northbourne 
& Orchard 

4 councillors 4405 1101 (985+467) 

Park 5 councillors 5115 1023 (1705) 

 
It is recognised that Millbrook will still have a larger elector to councillor ratio. 
However, the ward has a well defined boundary along Jubilee Way and the 
railway and is not suitable for merging with another ward.   
 
Officers acknowledge that a wider review may be required to address the 
growth in population and potentially the size of wards, both matters raised 
during the consultation, but that this should form part of the next district wide 
review.  

Page 42

Agenda Item 12



Didcot Community Governance Review: we'd like 
your feedback 

 

1. Are you responding as:  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 
a resident within the 
parish 

  
 

81.48% 22 

2 
someone who works 
within the parish 

  
 

3.70% 1 

3 
a business / organisation 
operating within the 
parish 

  
 

3.70% 1 

4 
a visitor or interested 
party 

 0.00% 0 

5 
a councillor (parish, 
district, county) 

  
 

11.11% 3 

6 
an officer (parish, district, 
county) 

 0.00% 0 

7 Other (please specify):  0.00% 0 

 
answered 27 

skipped 1 

Other (please specify): (0) 

No answers found. 

 

2. If you are responding as a business / organisation, council or body please provide 
its name:  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 2 

1 South Oxfordshire District Councillor 

2 Didcot Town Council 
 

 
answered 2 

skipped 26 

 
  

Page 43

Agenda Item 12



3. To help us analyse responses, please provide your full postcode (e.g. RG9 1XX)  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 23 

 
answered 23 

skipped 5 

 
  

4. To what extent do you support or oppose the proposal to amend the number of 
councillors elected for each town council ward to reflect the number of electors they 
represent?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Strongly support   
 

11.54% 3 

2 Tend to support   
 

34.62% 9 

3 Neither support or oppose   
 

3.85% 1 

4 Tend to oppose   
 

3.85% 1 

5 Strongly oppose   
 

46.15% 12 

6 Not sure  0.00% 0 

7 I don't have a view  0.00% 0 

 
answered 26 

skipped 2 

 

5. If you have stated ‘tend to oppose’ or ‘strongly oppose’, please state your reason(s) 
why below.  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 17 

1 Your reducing the number of councillors in areas where there will be more people living. Stupid idea.  

2 Do not understand why Millbrook where I live appears to have far fewer councillors for the population 
And this does not seem to be addressed though changes are being made 

3 No. of electorates in Didcot is growing due to the new housing developments throughout, so why 
should the No. of councillors reduce. 

4 It is not just about the number of people, it is about quality and willing to do something for the 
community.  

5 It has a balanced ratio per parish compared to the previous proposal.  

6 Too many councillors reduce the numbers to a more suitable level ie one per area 

7 I’d prefer to see Orchard ward merge with a neighbouring ward, making the average No of electors 
per councillor more even with other wards.  

8 The number of councillors for Ladygrove ward should not be reduced. The figures for electorate are 
already out of date (May 22). The Ladygrove ward is growing rapidly with the housing development 

Page 44

Agenda Item 12



5. If you have stated ‘tend to oppose’ or ‘strongly oppose’, please state your reason(s) 
why below.  

to the north and imminent development to the east. Baking in these changes on out of date data will 
lead to inequality of representation for years. Either pause this exercise until all housing development 
is complete or use projected data for the completed population at end of development. 

9 This is not what we requested at Didcot Town Council. We need to have all wards electing a similar 
amount of councillors. Not some wards electing 6 councillors and others electing two. That is not 
equal. The wards need to be redrawn and ideally made smaller. The size of Millbrook is a good size. 
Smaller wards reflect local communities better rather than being drowned out in larger wards. Didcot 
is growing and each area should have a strong and equal voice. Wards should be no larger than 
2,000 electors. 

10 Due to the almost completed new housing developments on Hagbourne Road and on the corner of 
the old High Street and Church Road, the Northbourne electorate will increase considerably. This 
increase needs to be taken into account by adjusting Park's councillors to 4 and maintaining 
Northbourne's number of 4. 

11 Why do we have to have wards? 

12 The Wards are not equal. Ideally, they should be made smaller and provide them with equal number 
of councillors.  

13 Disproportionately gives some wards precedence over others, as they will have more representatives 
at Town Council meetings making decisions for them. Not a democratic decision; the same people, 
and their friends, will end up representing the same wards, and opposition voices will be shut out. 

14 Wards should not have such disparity. Wards should elect an equal number of councillors and not be 
over sized. This is not representative or fair and I would like to see more Wards that are fairer and 
equally distributed both with electors and councillors. 

15 I oppose this because the wards all elect different numbers of councillors. I have moved here from 
people a town in Wales where our town council had small ward and each elected the same number 
of councillors. It surprises me moving here that someone in one part of Didcot has six votes, others 
three or one. Each ward should elect the same number of councillors. And why are the wards so 
large? They should be made smaller and more representative , living on a great Western Park it 
makes no sense to be in the Park Ward. We can’t even drive between GWP south and the rear of 
the ward! Please redraw the wards and make them smaller instead of keeping them the same. 

16 Firstly, there should be more consistency in the number of councillors per ward. Either All Saints, 
Ladygrove and Park are split into smaller wards or Millbrook Orchard and Northbourne are merged 
into one larger. In the latter case a proportional representation should be implemented, which would 
encourage a more diverse set of councillors on the council.  
 
If no change to the wards is made, then growth of the number of dwellings and therefore residents 
should be taken into account in allocating the number of councillors. For instance All Saints has seen 
considerable growth recently and now Ladygrove will see significant expansion, even in the next five 
years.  

17 Response below received via email.  
 
In response to the consultation on the Governance review, Didcot Town Council held at an Extra 
Ordinary full Council meeting on 18th July 2022. The view of the Town Council was that the 
comments and requests submitted and ratified at our full Council meeting on 7th March 2022 had 
been largely ignored by SODC.  
 
The instruction given to me is to re-send the requests that were ratified at our full Council meeting on 
7th March 2022. You will find these attached. The recorded vote on the minutes of this item was 
unanimous.  

 

 
answered 17 

skipped 11 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 12



6. Do you have any alternative suggestions or approaches that you think we should 
use in relation to the representation of councillors for the Town Council.  If so, please 
provide full details below and explain why you think this suggestion or approach 
would be preferable.  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 15 

1 Why is "Orchard" a parish with so few electorate? Can it not be combined with one or more 
of the neighbouring? 

2 Ladygrove Ward is now building again on the North and there are plans in for the East too. If 
you reduce the number of councillors for ladygrove it will soon become unbalaced and 
under-represented. 
I would strongly suggest retaining 7 councillors for Ladygrove. 
Park Ward is complete housing wise. I would suggest Park having 4 councillors (1279) is 
balanced as that is mid point between the figures for Northbourne and All Saints. 
 
Please retain 7 councillors for Ladygrove. 

3 At least remain at current levels.  

4 Councillors should work under constant target goal. They need to have clear evaluation and 
makes things happen. Also residents must be able to comment about those tasks to see if it 
was really done as good as it can be. 

5 One per area no more  

6 See 5.  [Officer note: This comment relates to “I’d prefer to see Orchard ward merge with a 
neighbouring ward, making the average No of electors per councillor more even with other 
wards. “ 

7 Use proportional representation across Didcot to allocate councillors against the total poll. 

8 Yes, please draw Didcot's wards smaller to be more representative. With the electorate 
being 23,155, you could create 10 wards, each electing 1-2 councillors, with an electorate 
around 2,316. This would be very good for the town and allow for better democracy and 
representation. 

9 In support of my above statement, may I also add the potential electorate increase in 
Northbourne due to the imminent completion of the new care home next to the Aldi 
supermarket.  

10 1 councillor per 1000 residents 

11 Yes, I believe there should 10 wards with each selecting 1-2 councillors.  

12 Each ward should be altered in size (relative to population) and made as equal as practically 
possible; that way, each ward can have the same number of councillors and there will be no 
inequality of representation 

13 I would like to see smaller wards. I know it was proposed at Didcot Town Council that there 
would be 10 wards each electing 1 or 2 Councillors. This makes sense, and would be very 
representative. It would ensure small communities are heard in a growing town. I would like 
to see this as I currently feel the current way we elect the town Council is not fair. 

14 My friend is a councillor and he has mentioned there should be 10 wards electing 1 or 2 
councillors per ward. This is appropriate and would make every area of Didcot equal and 
have a local voice. The wards in Didcot are too large and small communities lose their voice 
when bundled together with other communities. Please make the wards smaller and equal. 

15 Best way to ensure a council that will do justice to the diverse population of Didcot is to have 
a small number of large wards and PR within each of these wards. 

 

 
answered 15 

skipped 13 

Page 46

Agenda Item 12



6. Do you have any alternative suggestions or approaches that you think we should 
use in relation to the representation of councillors for the Town Council.  If so, please 
provide full details below and explain why you think this suggestion or approach 
would be preferable.  

7. You can upload any supporting documents using the button below.  

File Type 
Average 

Size 
Files 

Uploaded 

.pdf 420946Kb 1 

To view the files uploaded, go into the individual results. 
answered 1 

skipped 27 

Please see attached 
  

8. Do you have any other comments that you would like to make on the Didcot 
Community Governance Review 2022?  

Answer Choices 
Response 

Percent 
Response 

Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 11 

1 Please improve amenities in the Didcot area around Great Western park as we 
need proper facilities such as GPs surgery and NHS dentist.  

2 Yes, Get things done! I am tired of paying council tax from day one, when I moved 
to the new house in 2018 and in 4 years, can't really see anything happening. 
Why does it take 4 years to have a bus running, well, still not running yet. Why 
there isn't enforcement for illegal parking on pavement? Why Diamond road has 
no bumps or control of the speed? Why there are no clear pathways? You are 
waling on a pavement and soundly you need to jump onto the street as it is 
ended. Has someone really check the planning? Why do we pay full council if the 
area still belongs to the developer? Why Council is not effective and faster? Why 
everything takes ages? 

3 Infrastructure not keeping up with Didcot’s expansion  
 
Who is responsible for the complete mess re the ongoing road work  

4 Actually ask people what they want! I have met or heard from any local counselor 

5 No 

6 The starting point of no growth in councillor numbers appears unfair. Didcot 
Garden Town is doubling in size. Exactly how did the review arrive at the 
conclusion that the same number of councillors will be fine for a town double the 
size? Is this County/District well known bias against Didcot having allocated a 
large proportion of Oxfordshire's housing growth to Didcot? AKA "Dumping on 
Didcot". 

7 Yes, Harwell (Vale of White Horse) portion of GWP and the proposed Valley Park 
should come into Didcot (South Oxfordshire). The people there identity with Didcot 
and use our facilities. 

8 The parish should include all 
housing within the GWP development and any future development within a 2 mile 
radius of the current boundaries.  

9 No. 

10 Great Western Park should completely be in South Oxfordshire and not have a 
portion in the Vale of White Horse. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 12



8. Do you have any other comments that you would like to make on the Didcot 
Community Governance Review 2022?  

11 Why does the boundary of the two districts go through Great Western Park. 
Please put all of GWP under one council, and that should be South Oxfordshire. 

 

 
answered 11 

skipped 17 

 
  

Page 48

Agenda Item 12



Page 49

Agenda Item 12


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Community Governance Review - final recommendations
	7 Community Governance Review - Cuddesdon and Denton
	Parish clerk response, 08/09/2022 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee

	8 Community Governance Review - Henley and Bix and Assendon
	South CGR_B Henley and Bix (fully redacted), 08/09/2022 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee

	9 Community Governance Review - Sonning Common
	10 Community Governance Review - Thame and Great Haseley
	South CGR_D Thame Great Haseley, 08/09/2022 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee
	Appendix A - GHPC Response to Comm Governance Review July 22, 08/09/2022 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee

	11 Community Governance Review - Thame
	South CGR_E Thame, 08/09/2022 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee
	CGR_E (proposed changes), 25/05/2022 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee, 08/09/2022 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee

	12 Community Governance Review - Didcot
	South CGR_G Didcot, 08/09/2022 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee
	Didcot TC, 08/09/2022 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee


